月前 音子 2014

OUTLOF APPEALS DEPTSION III TYOT OF WASHINGTON Ey

### No. 321797

-

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

DEAN WILCOX,

Appellant,

v.

BARTLETT SERVICES, INC. and ELR CONSULTING, INC.,

Appellees.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Mel Crawford, WSBA #22930 MacDONALD HOAGUE & BAYLESS 705 2nd Avenue, Suite 1500 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 622-1604

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT



月前 音子 2014

OUTLOF APPEALS DEPTSION III TYOT OF WASHINGTON Ey

### No. 321797

-

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

DEAN WILCOX,

Appellant,

v.

BARTLETT SERVICES, INC. and ELR CONSULTING, INC.,

Appellees.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The borrowed servant doctrine is a legal fiction. Under that fiction, if Company A (the "general employer") transfers exclusive control of its servant S to Company B (the "special employer"), S becomes an employee of Company B and Company A may avoid liability for S's torts. It is axiomatic that only an employer may loan its servant; a third party who does not employ a person may not loan that person to someone else.

Here, the borrowed servant fiction was stretched far beyond its precedent and its logic. Company A sold its employee S's professional services to Company B – under an independent contractor agreement. Company B then sold S's professional services to Company C, also under an independent contractor agreement. Companies A, B and C all agreed – as did S – that S remained an employee of Company A and was not an employee of Company C.

When S's negligence injured Company C's employee, Company A claimed S *was* employed by Company C, and sought shelter behind the borrowed servant doctrine. But it was legally and logically impossible for Company A to have loaned S to Company C. Company A had not only agreed that S remained its employee; it lacked any contract or agreement with Company C regarding S. Further, it had sold S's services to Company B, which denied employing S and thus could not loan him to anyone.

Bartlett Services, Inc. ("BSI"), a Massachusetts corporation and a large national business, sells highly specialized work safety services to contractors at U.S. Department of Energy sites. One of BSI's employees was Work Control Planner Stephen Basehore. BSI sold Mr. Basehore's professional services to ELR Consulting, Inc. ("ELR") under an independent contractor agreement for \$85.58 per hour. Over a two year period, BSI billed ELR \$329,352.76 for Mr. Basehore's services.

ELR then sold Mr. Basehore's professional services to Washington Closure Hanford, LLC ("WCH"), prime contractor at the Hanford nuclear site, for \$89 an hour, also under an independent contractor agreement. That agreement stated that ELR would maintain "complete control" over Mr. Basehore, and that Mr. Basehore would not be considered an employee of WCH. WCH paid ELR for Mr. Basehore's services with money designated for *small* businesses.

The reason for this  $A \rightarrow B \rightarrow C$  arrangement was unsavory. WCH had a multi-billion dollar contract with the U.S. Department of Energy ("DOE"). Under that contract, WCH would receive a \$9,000,000 "incentive" if it subcontracted with small businesses, including "service disabled veteran owned" businesses. WCH wanted to purchase Mr. Basehore's professional services, and BSI wanted to sell them. BSI, however, was not a small business. Hence BSI and WCH had no direct relationship, and no contract with each other regarding Mr. Basehore.

\*

Instead, they used ELR (a veteran-owned small business) as a pass-through. BSI sold Mr. Basehore's services to ELR, and ELR in turn sold those services to WCH. According to ELR, this allowed BSI access to "the market of federal government contracts for nuclear site clean-ups" which otherwise were "off-limits to large business such as Bartlett but open to small business such as ELR" and brought WCH "closer to obtaining a multi-million dollar bonus." ELR characterized its role in this scheme as a "conduit" whose task was "to trigger various specialized federal benefits."<sup>1</sup>

All went well for BSI and ELR until Plaintiff Dean Wilcox survived a 50-foot fall through an uninspected catwalk opening, and alleged that Mr. Basehore's negligent work safety planning caused his fall and serious injuries. Mr. Wilcox sued BSI, Mr. Basehore's employer.

BSI denied responsibility for Mr. Basehore's work and tried to cloak itself with the "borrowed servant" defense. Although it had no contract or agreement with WCH regarding Mr. Basehore, and had contractually agreed that Mr. Basehore was *not* a WCH employee, BSI claimed in this litigation it had loaned Mr. Basehore to WCH and that he thereby became a WCH employee. If Mr. Basehore *was* a WCH employee, and thus Mr. Wilcox's coworker, Mr. Wilcox's only remedy was under our State's workers' compensation system.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A diagram illustrating the arrangement is at Appendix A.

Throughout the case, Mr. Wilcox argued that BSI could not assert the borrowed servant defense because BSI and ELR were, as their contracts stated, independent contractors, and because those contracts stated that Mr. Basehore was not a WCH employee, but remained employed by BSI. Mr. Wilcox also argued that BSI could not assert the defense because it had sold Mr. Basehore's professional services to ELR, not WCH. If BSI could assert the borrowed servant defense at all, it only could claim it loaned Mr. Basehore to ELR (although this would contradict its independent contractor agreement with ELR).

ELR denied being Mr. Basehore's employer. Accordingly, it could not loan him to anyone.

No Washington case describes a "double borrowing" in which Employer A loans its employee to Employer B who in turn loans the employee down the line to Employer C. Nor is there any reported case in which a party loaned someone who was not its own employee. The borrowed servant doctrine had no application to the facts of this case.

Even if the borrowed servant doctrine could have conceivably applied to these facts, it requires the borrowing employer to assume "exclusive control" over the employee. Yet the undisputed evidence at trial was that BSI never gave up exclusive control over Mr. Basehore. Thus the doctrine could not apply.

Trial was held from December 2 to December 13, 2013. Despite the clear language of the contracts stating that Mr. Basehore was not a

WCH employee, that BSI and ELR were "independent contractors," and that ELR would maintain complete control over Mr. Basehore, the trial court dismissed all claims against ELR and allowed BSI to argue to the jury that Mr. Basehore was a "borrowed servant" employed by WCH. The trial court rejected Plaintiff's repeated objections to application of the borrowed servant doctrine, and to the jury instructions that allowed its use.

### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in instructing the jury on the "borrowed servant" defense in Instruction Nos. 12 and 13 and in the Special Verdict Form. CP 92, 106, 107, 116, 119.

2. The trial court erred in entering its order dismissing ELR Consulting, Inc. CP 88.

3. The trial court erred in entering judgment against the Plaintiff. CP 166-67.

### III. ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the trial court err by instructing the jury on the "borrowed servant" defense when the purported "general employer," the purported "special employer," and a third party to whom the general employer sold the purportedly loaned employee's services, entered into *independent contractor* agreements stating that the purportedly loaned employee was *not* an employee of the purported "special employer"?

2. Did the trial court err by instructing the jury on the "borrowed servant" defense when the purported "general employer" did not loan its employee to the purported "special employer"?

3. Did the trial court err by instructing the jury it could apply the "borrowed servant" defense to an independent contractor's sale of professional services?

4. Did the trial court err by instructing the jury on the "borrowed servant" defense when the "general employer" admitted that it did not give up exclusive control over the purportedly loaned employee?

5. Should the trial court have dismissed ELR Consulting, Inc., when that entity had a contractual right to control an allegedly negligent actor, whose services ELR sold?

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### A. Statement of Facts

### 1. Bartlett Services, Inc. Sells Sophisticated Professional Work Control Planning Services to Contractors at U.S. Department of Energy Nuclear Sites.

BSI is a Massachusetts company that promotes itself as the "Leading Provider of Technical and Professional Services" to contractors at U.S. Department of Energy ("DOE") nuclear sites such as Hanford. Ex. 137. BSI offers sophisticated "Work Control Planning" services. Ex. 136. "Work Control Planning" or "Integrated Work Control" is a term of art describing how projects are planned and carried out at DOE sites; federal regulation describes the elements of Work Control Planning and requires its use at those sites. 48 C.F.R. 970.5223–1(c); RP 28, 48-49, 466; Ex. 1 at pages 1-2 of 38. BSI's professional Work Control Planning services include highly specialized expertise in planning demolition and decommissioning ("D & D") projects. RP 345, 346-47; Ex. 74 at 4, Exs. 138, 139, Ex. 143 at 14.

BSI maintains a western and eastern region for the United States; each region has a Director of Operations. RP 348; Ex. 43 at 2. BSI also has site managers at individual DOE sites. RP 349. Because of the nature of the services they provide, BSI Work Control Planners must perform their work at DOE sites, rather than at BSI's Massachusetts headquarters. RP 404-405. Although BSI first claimed it had three employees working at Hanford from 2008 to 2010, it later admitted it had seventy employees working there. RP 421-22. One of those was Stephen Basehore, a professional D & D Work Control Planner. RP 350, 359-361; Exs. 3, 5, 52, 119. BSI regarded Mr. Basehore's work as falling within the "professional, technical and administrative" services that comprised 33% of its "service offerings." RP 383, Ex. 143 at 4.

As a Work Control Planner, Mr. Basehore's job was to "full time ensure that the work is done in a way that is safe and doesn't put people in an unsafe or unanalyzed environment." RP 80-81. The end product of a Work Control Planner's work on any particular project is a "Work Package." Ex. 1 at 3 of 38; RP 49-50, 61. A Work Package is a document used to guide the actual performance of the work and tasks necessary to complete a particular project. Ex. 1 at 3 of 38.

BSI admitted that no writing stated that Mr. Basehore was a "borrowed servant" employed by WCH. RP 391. On the contrary, as described below, BSI's contract with ELR stated that Mr. Basehore was *not* employed by WCH, but remained a BSI employee. *See* Ex. 222 at BSI-28; Ex. 222 at BSI-2 (incorporating Mr. Basehore's "Acknowledgement of Employment Status," Ex. 5).

# 2. BSI Sold Mr. Basehore's Professional Services to ELR Via an Independent Contractor Agreement.

BSI sold Mr. Basehore's professional services to ELR, in accordance with a contract between those parties. RP 388; Ex. 222. The BSI-ELR contract identified ELR as the "Contractor" and BSI as the "Subcontractor." Ex. 222 at 1. Under a section titled "Scope of Work" it stated: "The Subcontractor shall furnish the services set forth herein and shall perform such services *as an independent contractor* and <u>not</u> as an employee of the Contractor" (underlining in original; italics added). *Id.* 

Referring to Mr. Basehore, the contract stated BSI was "responsible for the employment and other employee-related services required to maintain this individual on the project, including any required training." *Id.* It provided that BSI was "responsible for payment of all state and federal taxes required *as an independent contractor.*" *Id.* (emphasis added). And it stated ELR would pay BSI \$85.58 an hour for Mr. Basehore's professional services. Ex. 222 at BSI-1-2.

The BSI-ELR contract incorporated portions of ELR's contract with WCH, including a term stating that any employees ELR provided to WCH "are not Employees of Washington Closure Hanford." Ex. 222 at BSI-28. It also included an "Acknowledgment of Employment Status, Benefits Consent, and Conflicts of Interest Form." Ex. 222 at BSI-2. That Form, signed by Mr. Basehore, stated in part:

I, Stephen Basehore, have been advised, and hereby acknowledge that, during the period that I am serving as a subcontractor to Washington Closure Hanford, LLC, I shall remain an employee of Bartlett Services, Inc. for purposes of payment of any and all wages, salaries and benefits, including, but not limited to, paid absences, non-executive bonuses, medical and dental benefits, pension, 401(k) plans, life insurance, flexible spending, severance benefits, and all retirement benefits...

Additionally, I understand and agree that Bartlett Services, Inc. is solely responsible for my workers' compensation coverage and any and all applicable taxes – local, state and federal. Accordingly, I agree and acknowledge that Bartlett Services is my sole and exclusive employer and as such is solely and exclusively responsible for payment of any of the foregoing and that I have no legal recourse or rights against WCH for such payments. I further agree that my employment with and compensation paid by Bartlett Services, Inc. is sufficient consideration for this consent and agreement.

Ex. 5. This Form also stated Mr. Basehore was required to give notice if he became aware of any conflict between his "employer's interests and

WCH." Id.

Each week, Mr. Basehore completed a BSI form stating his hours worked. Exs. 6, 83. BSI then billed ELR for Mr. Basehore's services, at \$85.58 and, later, \$88.15 an hour. Ex. 83; RP 384-85, 387, 389. Over the two-year period of the BSI-ELR contract, BSI billed ELR \$329,352.76 for Mr. Basehore's professional services. RP 389-90; Ex. 83 at final page.

### 3. ELR Sold Mr. Basehore's Professional Services to WCH, Also Via an Independent Contractor Agreement.

ELR is a "service disabled veteran small business." RP 889. Its president, Emmet Richards, testified that three percent of all federal contract dollars are required to go to veteran small business owners. RP 919.

ELR sold Mr. Basehore's professional services to WCH for \$89 an hour. RP 904, Ex. 34 at ELR000495. It did so under a contract that identified WCH as the "Contractor" and ELR as the "Subcontractor." Ex. 34, at ELR000462. The contract stated in pertinent part:

SUBCONTRACTOR [ELR] shall act as an independent contractor and not as the agent of CONTRACTOR [WCH] in performing this Subcontract, maintaining complete control over its employees and all of its lower-tier suppliers and subcontractors. Nothing contained in this subcontract or any lower-tier purchase order or subcontract awarded by SUBCONTRACTOR shall create contractual any relationship between any lower-tier supplier or subcontractor and either CONTRACTOR or OWNER. SUBCONTRACTOR shall perform the Work hereunder in accordance with its own methods, subject to compliance with the Subcontract.

Ex. 34 at ELR 000466 (bracketed material and emphasis added). The contract specified that any person ELR provided to WCH was not a WCH employee:

Subcontractor realizes that any and all employees provided by Subcontractor under this agreement are not Employees of Washington Closure Hanford, LLC or the Department of Energy.

Ex. 34 at ELR000486. ELR agreed to indemnify WCH for any harm caused "in whole or in part" by "any act, omission, fault or negligence whether active or passive of SUBCONTRACTOR, its lower tier suppliers, subcontractors or of anyone acting . . . in connection with or incidental to the performance of this Subcontract." Ex. 34 at ELR000470.

The ELR-WCH contract also included the "Acknowledgment of Employment Status, Benefits Consent, and Conflicts of Interest Form" that Mr. Basehore signed, stating that while "serving as a subcontractor to Washington Closure Hanford, LLC" he remained a BSI employee and was required to immediately give notice of any conflict between his "employer's interests and WCH." Ex. 34 at ELR000500; Ex. 5.

From its first appearance in the case, ELR denied employing Mr. Basehore and denied he was its borrowed servant. It alleged as an affirmative defense: "at no relevant time in this case was Mr. Basehore employed by or acting as an agent or borrowed servant of ELR." RP 10, CP 27. When seeking summary judgment dismissal of Plaintiff's claims, ELR stated: "Mr. Basehore was neither an employee nor a borrowed servant of ELR"; "Mr. Basehore was not a borrowed servant of ELR" and "ELR never had a legally significant relationship with Mr. Basehore." CP 30, 31 at n.1, CP 36. ELR's president testified that ELR did not employ Mr. Basehore, whom he said was a BSI employee. RP 916, 917. ELR

denied Mr. Basehore was its employee through the last day of trial. RP

927.

### 4. WCH and BSI Had No Contractual Relationship With One Another, in Order to Allow BSI to Access Work at Hanford and to Allow WCH to Progress Towards a \$9,000,000 Bonus.

BSI had no contract with WCH. RP 409. In briefing and in-court

statements, ELR explained why:

Washington Closure Hanford in 2008 specifically wanted the services of Steve Basehore, they were familiar with his work and they wanted him to work for them. They contacted Bartlett Services to obtain those services. Bartlett Services is a Massachusetts corporation; they provide highly specialized professionals to nuclear energy sites around the country. Bartlett Services forwarded Steve Basehore's resume directly to Washington Closure Hanford; however, rather than hiring Basehore directly through Bartlett Services, Washington Closure used a company called ELR Consulting as a conduit and contracted with ELR Consulting for Basehore's services. The reason they did that was in order to satisfy a term of their contract with the Department of Energy. Washington Closure Hanford was required to award, I believe, 65 percent of its subcontracts to small business concerns. If they met that requirement, they were entitled to a certain monetary bonus.

Bartlett Services is not a small business concern by any stretch of the imagination. They're a national company with hundreds of employees. ELR Consulting, by contrast, is a small business concern. In fact, they are a services disabled veteran-owned small business. By hiring Bartlett's employee, Steve Basehore through ELR, Washington Closure Hanford could count Basehore towards their 65 percent small business goal and a separate 3 percent service disabled veteran-owned small business objective.

RP 953-54; see also CP 32.<sup>2</sup> ELR characterized its involvement as

"strictly limited to this 'conduit' role." CP 32. Elsewhere, ELR stated

that its role was to "trigger" federal benefits. Referring to WCH as

"Hanford," it stated:

Bartlett and Hanford instead used ELR as an intermediary, which moved Hanford closer to obtaining a multi-million dollar bonus and allowed Bartlett to access "the market of federal government contracts for nuclear site clean-ups," which may be off-limits to large business such as Bartlett but open to small business such as ELR. *Id at* 11. These indirect and trilateral characteristics of the contractual scheme are *prima facie* extrinsic evidence that the parties intended for ELR to be involved only to trigger various specialized federal benefits . . .

CP 212, 535. ELR summarized its conduct in these transactions as "savvy

acts of contracting." CP 32; RP 959-60.

### 5. BSI's Work Control Planners Provide Highly Specialized Professional Services, Subject to BSI's Control over Safety.

BSI's Vice President of Human Resources stated that BSI provides

"brains" – highly skilled workers, qualified and trained to provide

professional services. RP 401-02. He testified that Mr. Basehore's

primary job duties involved the exercise of independent judgment and

discretion. RP 358-360. WCH's representative, too, testified that a Work

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The "certain monetary bonus" ELR referred to was \$9,000,000. RP 17. The trial court granted ELR's motion to exclude from evidence the amount of the bonus. RP 21-22.

Control Planner's primary tool is his brain. RP 572. ELR's president testified that Work Control Planners are hard to find, in part because they are highly trained. RP 912-13.

BSI paid Mr. Basehore \$58.71 per hour, and he earned over \$100,000 in 2009. RP 355, 366-67. Mr. Basehore could participate in BSI's health insurance and, as a "long-term employee," was eligible for BSI's dental insurance. RP 379-80; Ex. 46 at 63,<sup>3</sup> Ex. 54. BSI provided him paid vacation. RP 379. It paid for training Mr. Basehore was required to have while providing professional services at Hanford, training Mr. Basehore could use in many different work settings, not only at Hanford. RP 918-919, 921-22.

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