**FILED**

October 2, 2014

Court of Appeals  
Division III  
State of Washington

No. 321797

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION III

---

DEAN WILCOX,

Appellant,

vs.

BARTLETT SERVICES, INC., and ELR CONSULTING, INC.,

Respondents.

---

**RESPONDENT ELR CONSULTING'S RESPONSE TO WILCOX'S  
OPENING BRIEF**

---

Douglas K. Weigel, WSBA No. 27192  
Amber L. Pearce, WSBA No. 31626  
Floyd, Pflueger & Ringer, P.S.  
200 West Thomas Street, Suite 500  
Seattle, WA 98119  
Telephone: 206-441-4455  
Facsimile: 206-441-8484

Attorneys for Respondent ELR  
Consulting, Inc.

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

An agency relationship may exist, either expressly or by implication, when one party acts at the instance of and, in some material degree, under the

direction and control of another. *Matsumura v. Eilert*, 74 Wn.2d 362, 368, 444 P.2d 806 (1968). Both the principal and agent must consent to the relationship. *Moss v. Vadman*, 77 Wn.2d 396, 402-03, 463 P.2d 159 (1969). “Before the sins of an agent can be visited upon his principal, the agency must be first established.” *Matsumura*, 74 Wn.2d at 363. Under Washington law, an agency relationship is created, either expressly or by implication, “when one party acts at the instance of and, in some material degree, under the direction and control of another.” *Hewson*, 101 Wn.2d at 823. Consent and control are the essential elements of the relationship. *Moss*, 77 Wn.2d at 403.

As the Division III noted in *Stansfield v. Douglas County*, an “agency relationship does not depend on an express understanding, but may arise out of the conduct of the parties. It does not exist unless the facts, either expressly or by inference, establish that one person is acting at the instance of and in some material degree under the direction and control of the other.” *Stansfield*, 107 Wn. App. 17-18. According to the *Matsumura* Court, “It arises from manifestations that one party consents that another shall act on his behalf and subject to his control, and corresponding manifestations of consent by another party to act on behalf of and subject to the control of the other.”

*Matsumura*, 74 Wn.2d at 368 (citing Restatement (Second) of Agency § 1 (1958)).

Judge Spanner correctly concluded that the facts were insufficient to establish a principal-agent relationship between ELR and Mr. Basehore. ELR's owner testified that ELR did not supervise Mr. Basehore (RP at 908:15-16); did not direct any of his work at WCH (RP 908:17-19); and did not control Mr. Basehore's work at WCH. (RP 908:20-22) Mr. Basehore was not acting at the instance of, or in some material degree under the direction and control of, ELR. The trial court correctly granted ELR's directed verdict, and it should be affirmed on appeal.

**D. The Standard of Review for Jury Instructions Is "Abuse of Discretion."**

Jury instructions are adequate if they are supported by substantial evidence, allow each party to argue its theories of the case, and, when read as a whole, properly inform the jury of the applicable law. *State v. Clausing*, 147 Wn.2d 620, 626, 56 P.3d 550 (2002). The Court of Appeals reviews for abuse of discretion the trial court's decision to give or withhold a particular instruction. *Thomas v. Wilfac, Inc.*, 65 Wn. App. 255, 264, 828 P.2d 597 (1992).

The Court reviews the adequacy of jury instructions *de novo* as a question of law. *Hall v. Sacred Heart Med. Ctr.*, 100 Wn. App. 53, 61, 995 P.2d 621 (2000). The precise wording of the instructions is within the broad discretion of the court. *State v. Alexander*, 7 Wn. App. 329, 336, 499 P.2d 263 (1972).

The general rule is that a party who objects to the wording of a proposed instruction must provide the court with an acceptable alternative. *Miller v. Peterson*, 42 Wn. App. 822, 830, 714 P.2d 695 (1986) (emphasis added); *Harris v. Groth*, 99 Wn.2d 438, 447, 663 P.2d 113 (1983).

Here, Mr. Wilcox did not object to the actual wording of the Borrowed Servant Instruction—*so it stands as a correct statement of law* under de novo review. Additionally, Mr. Wilcox did not provide the trial court with an acceptable alternative. Rather, Mr. Wilcox objected solely to giving the Borrowed Servant instruction to the jury. (RP 942:4-9) However, whether to give or withhold a particular instruction is soundly within the trial court's discretion. *Wilfac*, 65 Wn. App. at 264. Here, based on the testimony and evidence, Judge Spanner correctly exercised his discretion in giving the Borrowed Servant instruction to the jury.



**E. The Trial Court Correctly Instructed the Jury on the Borrowed Servant Doctrine.**

With regard to borrowed servant, the jury was instructed as follows:

Under the borrowed servant doctrine, a worker in the general employ and pay of one employer may be loaned to another. If an employer meets its burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the worker is a “borrowing servant” that employer is not liable for the worker’s negligence.

In order for a person to be a “borrowed servant,” the general employer must surrender, and the borrowing employer must assume, exclusive supervision and control over the worker. Exclusive control for all purposes is not required. Rather, the question is whether the borrowing employer has exclusive control of the borrowed worker for the transaction causing injury.

Defendant has the burden of proving borrowed servant by a preponderance of the evidence.

(CP 107)

Further, if “defendant proves that Steve Mr. Basehore was a borrowed servant of Washington Closure Hanford, your verdict should be for the defendant.” (CP 106)

The trial court correctly determined that ELR was not a “master” and Mr. Basehore was not its “servant.” Accordingly, the borrowed servant doctrine did not apply to ELR. However, if Judge Spanner’s ruling is reversed and this case is remanded for a new trial, ELR will be directly affected. For this reason, ELR briefly addresses the borrowed servant doctrine

and the instruction submitted to the jury.

A borrowed servant is, “an employee whose services are, with the employee’s consent, lent to another employer who temporarily assumes control over the employee’s work. Under the doctrine of *respondeat superior*, the borrowing employer is vicariously liable for the employee’s acts.” Black’s Law Dictionary (8<sup>th</sup> ed. 2004).

If Mr. Basehore was the borrowed servant of WCH, then WCH was vicariously liable for his negligence. However, since Mr. Wilcox was employed by WCH, his exclusive remedy for WCH’s negligence, including the negligence of its employees, was through Workers’ Compensation.

Here, the evidence substantially established that Mr. Basehore was WCH’s borrowed servant—and the jury agreed. Bartlett lent Mr. Basehore to WCH, and WCH utilized his expertise on the demolition project. The jury heard many witnesses, including Emmett Richards, Kim Koegler, Donna Yakek, and Bonnie Cole. The 12-member jury entered a verdict in Bartlett’s favor—finding that, in fact, Mr. Basehore was WCH’s borrowed servant.

Division III in *Campbell v. State*, 129 Wn. App. 10, 20-21, 118 P.3d 888 (2005), stated that under the borrowed servant doctrine “a worker under the general employ and pay of one person may be loaned or hired to another.

When the worker undertakes the work of the other, the worker becomes the servant of the other for the particular transaction, and the general employer may escape liability for the worker's negligence" (quoting *Brown v. Labor Ready N.W., Inc.*, 113 Wn. App. 643, 647, 54 P.3d 166 (2002) review denied, 149 Wn.2d 1011 (2003)). ***Exclusive control for all purposes is not required.*** *Brown*, 113 Wn. App. at 651 (emphasis added). That is exactly what happened in the case at bar.

Moreover, "[i]f the worker was a borrowed servant ***at the time of the transaction at issue***, the servant's general employer can escape liability for damages." *Campbell*, 129 Wn. App. at 21 (citing *Brown*, 113 Wn. App. at 647). The *Campbell* Court noted that "[t]he key factor is that the servant be in the exclusive control of the special employer ***at the time of the transaction.***" *Id.* (emphasis added) (citing *Davis v. Early Constr. Co.*, 63 Wn.2d 252, 258, 386 P.2d 958 (1963)).

Whether an employee qualifies as a borrowed servant is generally a factual question. *Campbell*, 129 Wn. App. at 21 (citing *Nyman v. MacRae Bros. Constr. Co.*, 69 Wn.2d 285, 288, 418 P.2d 253 (1966)). However, Mr. Wilcox apparently contends that a party must state in writing that an employee is a borrowed servant. (See Mr. Wilcox's Opening Brief at 8:

Bartlett “admitted that no writing stated that Mr. Basehore was a ‘borrowed servant’ employed by WCH.”) However, Mr. Wilcox fails to support his contention with case law.

Instead, with or without a statement in writing, a jury applies the facts to determine whether an employee is under the direction and control of another entity. Here, the jury concluded, based on the factual evidence, that Mr. Basehore was under the direction and control of WCH, and consequently was WCH’s borrowed servant.

The inquiry for applying the borrowed servant doctrine is fairly focused. Here, as in *Brown v. Labor Ready*, the borrowed servant (Mr. Basehore) was performing his work at Hanford under the direction and control of WCH. The testimony established that WCH, and only WCH, controlled Mr. Basehore’s day-to-day activities at the jobsite.

Each week, Mr. Basehore reported to, and had his timecards signed by his supervisor, a WCH employee, who instructed him regarding his duties and monitored his work. WCH provided the equipment necessary to perform the job. Moreover, there was no Bartlett or ELR employee on site to supervise Mr. Basehore’s work.

As Judge Spanner recognized, borrowed servant was front and center

in this case from the outset. That's why the jury was specifically instructed on the borrowed servant doctrine, and why the borrowed servant question was first on the verdict form. If the jury concluded that Mr. Basehore was WCH's borrowed servant, then that ended the case. This is exactly what happened.

**F. The Trial Court Correctly Allowed ELR to Assert the Affirmative Defense of the Borrowed Servant Doctrine, If Necessary.**

Mr. Wilcox contends that ELR did not plead the borrowed servant doctrine as an affirmative defense, and therefore could not raise it at trial. (*See* Mr. Wilcox's Opening Brief at 21-22) ELR explained that the borrowed servant doctrine was "front and center" in this lawsuit, and that the case had been about the doctrine from the very beginning. (RP at 13:23-24; 14:5-6)

ELR's position was that it never employed Mr. Basehore—he was Bartlett's employee, who worked for WCH under a contract to perform work planning services for WCH. (RP at 14:1-4) However, throughout the litigation, Mr. Wilcox was trying to prove that an employment and/or agency relationship existed between ELR and Mr. Basehore. Likewise, throughout the litigation, both ELR and Bartlett relied on the borrowed servant defense. The trial court agreed. "I have to agree with the defense. If the plaintiff is successful in proving that he was an employee of ELR, then ELR gets to raise

the Borrowed Servant Doctrine because it's ceded or according to its position ceded exclusive control of Mr. Bashore to Washington Closure Hanford.” (RP at 14:18-23)

To the extent that Mr. Wilcox assigns error to the trial court's ruling that ELR could avail itself of the borrowed servant defense, if necessary, then ELR submits that Judge Spanner's ruling was correct as a matter of law and should be affirmed. In *Davis v. Early Const. Co.*, 60 Wn.2d 252, 259-60, 386 P.2d 958 (1963), the Supreme Court explained that “[w]hen issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings” (citing 15B Karl B. Tegland, *Washington Practice* (2004)).

While “amendment of the pleadings as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and to raise these issues may be made upon motion of any party at any time, even after judgment” nevertheless, “failure so to amend does not affect the result of the trial of these issues.” *Id.*

If Mr. Wilcox found the affirmative defense objectionable, then his remedy was to obtain a trial continuance “to enable the objecting party to meet such evidence.” *Id.* Here, Mr. Wilcox did not request a continuance and did not establish that the admission of the borrowed servant defense

prejudiced him. Having failed to exercise his remedies, Mr. Wilcox has waived claiming error on appeal. The trial court's ruling should be affirmed.

**G. Mr. Wilcox Waived Raising the Issue or Applicability of “Indemnity” on Appeal.**

Inexplicably, Mr. Wilcox raises—for the first time to ELR—the issue or applicability of contractual indemnity to the facts of this case. (*See* Mr. Wilcox's Opening Brief at 12, 28-30) Mr. Wilcox appears to argue that the contractual indemnity provision in the contract between ELR and WCH belatedly supports his argument that Mr. Basehore was not employed by WCH. (*Id.*)

Significantly, Mr. Wilcox never raised the issue or application of indemnity in his complaint; nor during ELR's two motions for summary judgment, during discovery, in the Trial Management Report, in his trial brief, during any portion of the two-week trial, or in jury instructions. Having failed to raise it in the trial court, Mr. Wilcox has now waived raising its applicability in the appellate court pursuant to RAP 2.5(a).

RAP 2.5(a) explains the circumstances which may affect scope of review:

(a) *Errors raised for first time on review.* The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. However, a party may raise the

following claimed errors for the first time in the appellate court: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right. A party or the court may raise at any time the question of appellate court jurisdiction. A party may present a ground for affirming a trial court decision which was not presented to the trial court if the record has been sufficiently developed to fairly consider the ground. A party may raise a claim of error which was not raised by the party in the trial court if another party on the same side of the case has raised the claim of error in the trial court.

Here, the factors in RAP 2.5(a)(1)-(3) do not apply. Mr. Wilcox does not claim errors with respect to jurisdiction, failure to establish facts upon which relief may be granted, or a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. Moreover, Mr. Wilcox does not seek to “present a ground for affirming a trial court decision,” as required by RAP 2.5(a). Instead, he seeks reversal. Finally, no party has raised a claim of error with respect to indemnity.

In sum, Mr. Wilcox has waived the right to raise the applicability of indemnity on appeal. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals’ scope of review is limited to the lower court’s record. *See State v. Nason*, 168 Wn.2d 936, 233 P.3d 848 (2010) (noting that because the petitioner failed to preserve an issue on appeal, it was not properly before the Supreme Court); *Sorenson v. Pyeatt*, 158 Wn.2d 523, 542-43, 146 P.3d 1172 (2006) (declining to address arguments raised for the first time in supplemental briefing); *State v. Scott*,



110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) (“RAP 2.5(a) states the general rule for appellate disposition of issues not raised in the trial court: appellate courts will not entertain them.”); *Herberg v. Swartz*, 89 Wn.2d 916, 925, 578 P.2d 17 (1978) (“An issue, theory or argument not presented at trial will not be considered on appeal.”) RAP 1.2(b) instructs that “will” is a word of command: “The word ‘will’ or ‘may’ is used when referring to an act of the appellate court.”

The policy basis for the general rule is judicial economy. “The rule reflects a policy of encouraging the efficient use of judicial resources.” *Scott*, 110 Wn.2d at 685. The Supreme Court counseled that the “appellate courts will not sanction a party’s failure to point out at trial an error which the trial court, if given the opportunity, might have been able to correct to avoid an appeal and a consequent new trial.” *Id.*

RAP 2.5(a) also applies as a matter of fairness. *See* 2A Karl B. Tegland, *Washington Practice: Rules Practice RAP 2.5* (6<sup>th</sup> ed. 2004) (“[T]he opposing parties should have an opportunity at trial to respond to possible claims of error, and to shape their cases to issues and theories, at the trial level, rather than facing newly-asserted error or new theories and issues for the first time on appeal.”)

Based on the foregoing, ELR respectfully submits that Mr. Wilcox waived raising the applicability of indemnity for the first time on appeal.


## VI. CONCLUSION

The trial court's ruling granting ELR's motion for a directed verdict should be affirmed because the record clearly confirms that Mr. Wilcox failed to introduce any (much less "sufficient") evidence to establish a principal-agency relationship between ELR and Mr. Basehore. Additionally, given the facts and law in this case, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in giving the jury a Borrowed Servant instruction. Both decisions should be affirmed.